
PenicuikΩǎ history and attractions 
Penicuik grew up in prehistory on the edge of the wooded valley 

of the River Esk. The Britonic people here spoke an old form of 

Welsh  -the invasions of the Angles and the Scots had not yet 

begun.  The village was in a sheltered sandy hollow overlooking 

the Esk valley, with pure springs and fertile pasture. It took the 

name Penicuik meaning άƘƛƭƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎǳŎƪƻƻέ ƻǊ άƘƛƭƭ ƻŦ ōǊƻƻƳέΦ 

Broomhill still overlooks the town centre today. 

   

The Romans passed by Penicuik on either side. They and other 

north-south travellers kept to the high ground away from the 

tangled and dangerous river valleys, crossing only by a few well 

ƳŀǊƪŜŘ ǇŀǘƘǎ ƻǊ άIƻǿŜ-Dŀƛǘǎέ for those going east or west. 

 



Once the Romans had left, Britain came under attack from sea 

invaders. The local king, Lot, with strongholds on Edinburgh Rock 

and Traprain Law and a settlement at Mount Lothian just across 

the Esk from Penicuik, kept the peace as far as he could, some 

ǎŀȅ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘŜŘ ōȅ !ǊǘƘǳǊΩǎ post-roman army.  

 
This roman building from the era of Carausius became known as 

!ǊǘƘǳǊΩǎ Howff or hΩƻƴ.  It stood at 

Stenhousemuir, Camelon near the 

old Antonine Wall, and was 

supposedly used by Arthur and his 

round table in the sixth century. 

Destroyed for its stone in 1743, it 

was replicated to form the roof of 

the dovecot at Penicuik House.    
 



[ƻǘΩǎ ŘŀǳƎƘǘŜǊΩǎ ƛƭƭŜƎƛǘƛƳŀǘŜ child Cunotigernos   όƭƛǘŜǊŀƭƭȅ άŘƻƎ ƻŦ 

thŜ ƪƛƴƎέύ grew up to be a wise Christian leader, known by his 

ǇŜǘ ƴŀƳŜ ƻŦ aǳƴƎƻ ƻǊ άŘŜŀǊ ƻƴŜέΦ  As the main new faith 

Christian leader in these parts, Mungo supposedly had a test of 

strength with the Merlin (the senior old faith adviser) at Stobo 

twenty miles south of Penicuik. aǳƴƎƻΩǎ ƎǊŜŀǘŜǊ ǎǇƛǊƛǘǳŀƭ ǇƻǿŜǊ 

is said to have hurled the Merlin over a wall.  

  
                                                                               Stobo Kirk by JM Patrick 1936 and its Mungo & Merlin window 

Faith leaders in those days immersed themselves in cold baths of 

spring water.  The Well of Heavenly Aqua is not far from Penicuik 

beyond Carlops. PeƴƛŎǳƛƪΩǎ ŎƘǳǊŎƘ ŀƴŘ Ƙƻƭȅ ǿŜƭƭ ƛǎ ŘŜŘƛŎŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ 

St Mungo. His fame travelled to the kingdom of Strathclyde 

where he was an adviser to the court in Dumbarton and 

Glasgow, and south to Hoddam, Cumbria, and what is now 

Wales, where Mungo began what became St AsŀǇƘΩǎ ŎŀǘƘŜŘǊŀƭΦ 

 
Mungoõs tomb Glasgow  . 



Penicuik survived the next thousand years with scarcely a 

historical mention.  The area was part of the hunting forests 

around Edinburgh, and local community leaders could hold their 

ƭŀƴŘ άCǊŜŜ ŦƻǊ ŀ .ƭŀǎǘέ at the ƪƛƴƎΩǎ pleasure provided they 

turned out for his service at the blast of a hunting horn. 

 

Small and old, with a high square tower, tŜƴƛŎǳƛƪΩǎ ŎƘǳǊŎƘ of St 

Mungo continued at the heart of the little community. As at 

Biggar the church sat in the middle of a circular enclosure, 

pathways running round the enclosed ground on either side.  

Penicuik with its doves and memories of St Mungo, was still well 

off the beaten track. But as Edinburgh developed, the routes that 

flanked the Pentland Hills became ever more important for trade 

as cattle and sheep were driven to city markets. 

 

 Here tucked into the slopes near Ninemileburn at Spital, monks 

ran a hospital where travellers could find shelter. Here, outside 

the city but close to the Scottish court (like the similar one at 

Soutra) advanced surgery and anaesthetic herbs could be used 

discreetly for healing or childbirth.  



 A mile or two down the Esk at Rosslyn, William St Clair (Lord 

Chancellor and High Admiral of Scotland) started an elaborate 

collegiate chapel in 1446, with an acoustic engrailed vaulted 

crypt. He endowed a college of men and boys to sing for his soul 

for all time. These harmonic collegiate chapels were popular in 

the years before the Reformation, others are at Crichton, Seton 

and Restalrig.   For the last 20 years Penicuik vaults singers have 

chanted every Sunday afternoon in one or other of the chapels. 

 
.                        Rosslyn collegiate chapel and its harmonic crypt 

In the 1400s  St Clair influence as earls of Rosslyn, Caithness and 

Orkney ran from Pentland Hills to Pentland Firth. Orkney was 

then a hub of long-haul navigation (and continued to the days of 

Captain Cook, Captain Bligh and the Hudsons Bay Company, all of 

them drew their crews from there).  St Clair used craftsmen from 

far and wide to create Rosslyn Chapel. Exotic interior carving 

suggests influence from Spain and Portugal, and even India. 

      
Venetian world map 1450 & contemporary Ranakpur Temple, Rajasthan 



With the spread of world discovery and new ideas through 

printing, Europe began to feel the upheaval of Reformation. 

Penicuik was no different.  The old established family of Penicuik 

of that Ilk left their estate and tumbledown Penicuik Castle by 

Broom Hill to seek their fortune in medicine and seafaring.  Their 

tŜƴƛŎǳƛƪ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ǿƛǘƘ ƛǘǎ άCǊŜŜ ŦƻǊ ŀ .ƭŀǎǘέ ŀƴŘ ǿƛƭŘ ōƻŀǊǎ ǿŀǎ 

bought in 1646 by Scots merchant John Clerk wƘƻΩŘ ƳŀŘŜ ŀ 

fortune as an art dealer in Paris. This was during the civil war in 

Britain and the Thirty Years War in Europe, when families were 

fleeing in all directions and loot and treasured possessions 

changed hands at low prices to raise desperately needed cash.  

tŜǊƘŀǇǎ ǘƘƛǎ ƛǎ ǿƘŜƴ Iŀƴǎ IƻƭōŜƛƴΩǎ ǿŜƭƭ-known portrait of 

IŜƴǊȅ ±LLL ŎŀƳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƭŜǊƪǎΩ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘƛƻƴ όƛǘ ǿŀǎ ǎƻƭŘ ƛƴ мфлпύΦ 

  

{ŎƻǘƭŀƴŘΩǎ ǊŜƭƛƎƛƻǳǎ ǿŀǊǎ ŎŀƳŜ ŎƭƻǎŜr to home in 1666 when 
hundreds of dissenting Covenanters from Dumfries and Galloway 
were massacred by government forces at Rullion Green. Robert 
Louis Stevenson would later write vividly of this event. 

 
Bluidy Tam Dalyell (who learned to take no prisoners when in the Czarõs service) led the Rullion Green massacre.       Dreghorn Memorial  


